Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-20-2014

Brown v. Brown Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41483

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Michael had only one (1) day to file his Notice of Appeal after receiving actual notice from the Court (R., Vol. I page 85). Heather's counsel's failure to include the correct fax number on the Clerk's Certificate of Service created a situation such that the Clerk did not provide actual or constructive notice to Michael of the final judgment. Accordingly, I.R.C.P. Rule 77(d) allows this Court to grant relief to Michael.

In the transcript on appeal, Heather's counsel argues that Michael's attorney had knowledge of the proposed Decree prior to the entry of the Decree and that should have given him sufficient opportunity to be prepared to appeal (Tr., p. 6, line 11; p. 8, line 5). The foregoing argument is not the status of the law as to time for appeal and notice of final order of the Court pursuant to I.R.C.P. 77. A *proposed* order or decree is not a final Decree entered by the Court. A proposed order or decree is not binding in any way and even if said order is ultimately entered

by the Court, the grounds for appealing an entered order or decree are vastly different and involve a myriad of different factors than objecting to the form or content of a proposed order or decree.

Michael only received notice of the Decree of Divorce after being contacted by Heather on July 23 when she wanted to know when her property would be distributed. See Vol., I, p. 118, ¶ 20. Ms. Brown stated that she no longer had an attorney but was calling based on her receiving the Decree of Divorce from her previous attorney. Id. Michael and Michael's counsel were unaware of the entry of the Decree of Divorce and Heather emailed it on July 23, 2013 at 5:31 p.m. Id. p. 148. The email from Heather was opened and responded to at approximately 2:08 p.m. the next day, July 24, 2013. Id. On July 24, 2013, counsel for Michael instructed his staff to obtain a copy of the Decree of Divorce from the Courthouse as she had not sent it as she promised during office hours. See Vol. I, p. 114, ¶¶ 2-4. The foregoing was the first time Michael or his counsel were informed of the possible entry of a final judgment.

On July 24, 2013, Michael's counsel's staff began contacting the court reporter in order to determine how much a trial transcript would cost for the appeal. Id at ¶ 8. After research of the potential hearing dates for transcript costs were located and relayed to the clerk, a response was received the same day. Id at ¶¶ 9 & 10. Thereafter, Michael's counsel's legal assistant began attempting contact with Michael to inform him of the potential costs of filing an appeal and to confirm the issues he wished to appeal. Id at ¶7. After two days of determining whether or not an appeal should be filed and attempts to contact Michael, a Notice of Appeal was faxed to the District Court shortly before 5:00 p.m. on Friday, July 26, 2013; however, the transmission

did not go through the fax machine until 5:08 p.m. See Vol. I, ¶¶ 33 & 34. The Clerk stamped the Notice of Appeal on Monday, July 29, 2013 at 7:13 a.m., which was forty five (46) days after the Decree was file stamped by the clerk.

It is virtually impossible for counsel to weigh the advisability and confer with a client regarding whether or not an appeal is appropriate in one (1) day, which is what happened here. As this court is well aware, filing a Notice of Appeal, when the appeal is not well founded in law, could expose the client and the attorney to monetary sanctions and attorney fee awards for filing a frivolous appeal, pursuant to I.A.R.P. Rule 11.2, Idaho Code §12-121. It was important for the client and counsel to discuss whether or not there were actually appealable issues in the Decree prior to filing a Notice of Appeal. One day simply does not give sufficient time to do all of the tasks associated with determining the appealability of a case. See also Elec. Wholesale Supply Co., Inc. v. Nielson, 136 Idaho 814, 828, 41 P.3d 242, 256 (2001):

An award of attorney fees on appeal pursuant to I.C. § 12–121 is proper only where this Court is left with the abiding belief that the appeal was "brought or pursued frivolously, unreasonably, and without foundation. *Stanley v. McDaniel*, 134 Idaho 630, 7 P.3d 1107 (2000) (citing *Anson v. Les Bois Race Track, Inc.*, 130 Idaho 303, 305, 939 P.2d 1382, 1384 (1997)); I.C. § 12–121.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- (a) Did the District Court err in Dismissing Michael's appeal as untimely?
- (b) Does IRCP 77(d) extend the time in which Michael had to file his appeal?
- (c) Is Michael entitled to attorney fees and costs on appeal?

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review from a district court ruling, acting in its appellate capacity, is for the appellate court to review the decision to see if the issue was correctly decided. See <u>Borley v. Smith</u>, 149 Idaho 171, 176, 233 P.3d 102, 107 (2010), which states:

On appeal of a decision rendered by district court acting in its appellate capacity, we directly review the district court's decision to determine whether it correctly decided the issues presented to it on appeal. *Idaho Dept. of Health and Welfare v. Doe*, 148 Idaho 124, 126, 219 P.3d 448, 450 (2009).

See also <u>State v. Schoonover</u>, 125 Idaho 953, 954, 877 P.2d 924, 925 (Ct. App. 1994), which states:

When an appeal is taken from a decision of the district court rendered in its appellate capacity, we examine the record from the magistrate division independently of, but with due regard for, the district court's decision. *State v. Barker*, 123 Idaho 162, 163, 845 P.2d 580, 581 (Ct.App.1992).

Thus, it is for the Supreme Court to independently determine the timeliness of Michael's filing of his Notice of Appeal and whether IRCP 77(d) extended the time when Michael's Notice of Appeal was due to be filed.

V. ARGUMENT

(a) Did the District Court Err when it dismissed Michael's Appeal as untimely?

Herret v. Herret, 105 Idaho 358, 670 P.2d 63 (Ct.App.1983) states that the time frame for a party to file its Notice of Appeal is tolled until the party receives actual notice of the judgment:

This, coupled with the fact that the clerk failed to give notice of judgment, "affects" the time for appeal under I.R.C.P. 77(d). When the original time for appeal expires before the appellant receives actual notice, the appellant is deprived of any opportunity to appeal an adverse decision. Under these

circumstances, the time for appeal begins to run anew from the date the appellant receives actual notice. *Cline v. Roemer, supra; Dustin v. Beckstrand, supra.*

In the instant case Michael's counsel received actual notice from the Court forty one (41) days after the entry of the Decree, one (1) day before the running of the time to file the appeal. Michael's Notice of Appeal was filed with the court on July 29, 2013, within 42 days of the court's "refaxed" service of the Decree. Michael's original Notice of Appeal was faxed to the district court on July 26, 2013 and was received by the clerk at 5:08 p.m., therefore, since it was received after business hours, the clerk file stamped in on July 29, 2013 (at 7:13 a.m.). Michael's Notice of Appeal was filed within five (5) days of his actual notice of the entry of Decree.

Cline v. Roemer, 97 Idaho 666, 667, 551 P.2d 621, 622 (1976) states:

It is not disputed that a clerk of the court failed to give Roemer notice of that judgment as required by I.R.C.P. 77(d). Roemer argues that until he is given notice by the clerk, the time for appeal does not begin to run, and this appeal is timely.

Roemer's argument failed, as the court found that Roemer had actual notice of the judgment, prior to the clerk of the court's mailing of said notice. Michael's facts are distinguishable from <u>Cline</u> in that Michael had neither actual nor constructive notice of the entry of the final judgment prior to July 23, 2013.

(b) Does IRCP 77(d) extend the time in which Michael had to file his Appeal?

IRCP Rule 77(d) provides:

Immediately upon the entry of an order or judgment the clerk of the district court, or magistrates division, shall serve a copy thereof, with the clerk's filing stamp thereon showing the date of filing... Lack of notice of entry of an order or

judgment does not affect the time to appeal or to file a post-judgment motion, or relieve or authorize the court to relieve a party for failure to appeal or file a post-trial motion within the time allowed, except where there is no showing of mailing by the clerk in the court records and the party affected thereby had no actual notice. (emphasis added)

Here, the clerk waited fourteen (14) days before serving the Decree on the interested parties, and then, due to the bad facsimile number provided to the court by Heather's counsel, Michael was not served with notice until forty one (41) days after entry of the Decree.

<u>Dustin v. Beckstrand</u>, 103 Idaho 780, 786, 654 P.2d 368, 374 (1982), held: ["I.R.C.P. 77(d)] specifically states that failure to comply will not relieve a party from the time limits for appeal <u>unless the party had no actual notice</u>" (emphasis added).

(c) Is Michael entitled to attorney fees and costs on appeal?

Under I.C §12-121, Michael's attorney fees and costs are appropriate if he is successful with this appeal and if this Court makes a finding that the Respondent defended this appeal frivolously. See <u>Gonzalez v. Thacker</u>, 148 Idaho 879, 231 P.3d 524 (2009).

Idaho Appellate Rule 40 provides for costs to a prevailing party at appeal. Additionally, Idaho Appellate Rule 41 allows a party to request attorney fees and the Appellant so requests the opportunity to submit a memorandum and affidavit in support if this Court so orders it. Michael hereby requests attorney fees and costs on appeal based on the Respondent's frivolous defense.

At hearing and in their memorandum in support of their motion to dismiss as untimely, counsel for Heather argued, in effect, that Michael had notice to appeal from the date he received their proposed Decree of Divorce which is contrary to I.R.C.P. 83 and I.R.C.P. 77(d). See Tr., p. 6 lns.11-25; pp. 7-8 and page 4 and 5 of Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, Augmented Record.

Therefore, Heather's arguments at the District Court were not based upon law and/or based upon

a good faith argument for a change in said law and therefore frivolous.

VI. CONCLUSION

The case law supports a dismissal if the appellant had sufficient time to prepare and file a

notice of appeal. However, in this case, one day was not sufficient time to prepare and file a

notice of appeal. The filing of the notice of appeal in this case was file stamped 46 days after

entry of judgment, but only 5 days after Michael's counsel's having received Notice of the

Decree from which he appealed.

An appellant must have sufficient time in order to file a notice of appeal. The Supreme

Court has ruled 10 days is sufficient time; but not a lesser amount of time.

Further, Appellant requests reimbursement of his costs and fees as he has been required

to appeal the District Court's decision as a result of her Motion to Dismiss Notice of Appeal.

Based upon the foregoing, Appellant, Michael Brown request this Court find that the

District Court erred in dismissing his appeal as untimely and order attorney fees and costs to

Appellant.