Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-20-2014

Brown v. Brown Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41483

II.	Statement of the Case		
	A. Nature of the Case		
	B. Course of Proceedings		
III.	State	Statement of Facts	
IV.	Issues Presented on Appeal		
V.	Stand	tandard of Review	
VI.	Argument		
	(a)	Did the District Court error in dismissing the appeal, when the Notice of Appeal had been file stamped three days after the time to appeal had expired?	
	(b)	Did I.R.C.P. 77(d) toll or extend the time Appellant had to file his appeal, when Appellant had actual knowledge and constructive notice of entry of the Decree of Divorce prior to the expiration of the time to timely file the appeal? 5	
	(c)	Is either party entitled to attorney fees and costs on appeal?	
VII. C	Conclus	ion	

I. TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

Cases		
Bower v. Mabey, 119 Idaho 922, 811 P. 2d 847(Ct.App. 1991)		
Cather v. Kelso v. Western Mortgage Loan Corporation, 103 Idaho 684, 652 P.2d 188(1982) 4		
State v. Ciccone, 150 Idaho 305, 246 P. 3d 958(2010)		
City of Eagle v. Idaho Dep't of Water Res., 150 Idaho 449, 247 P.3d 1037(2011)		
Cline v. Roemer, 97 Idaho 666, 551 P.2d 621 (1976)		
Dustin v. Beckstrand, 103 Idaho 780, 654 P.2d 621 (1982)		
Herret v. Herret, 105 Idaho 358, 670 P.2d 63 (Ct.App. 1983)		
Huerta v. Huerta, 127 Idaho 77, 896 P.2d 985 (Ct.Appp. 1995)		
Swayne v. Otto, 99 Idaho 271, 580 P.2d 1296 (1978)		
Tanner v. Estate of Cobb, 101 Idaho 444, 614 P.2d 984 (1980)		
<i>Troche v. Gier</i> , Idaho 118 Idaho 742, 800 P.2d 136 (Ct.App. 1990)		
Vierstra v. Vierstra, 153 Idaho 873, 292 P.3d 264(2012)		
<u>Rules</u> I.C.R.P. 83(s)		
I.C.R.P. 5(e)		
I.C.R.P. 77(d)		
I.C.R.P. 54(e)		
<u>Statutes</u>		
I.C. §12-121		

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from the District Court's September 19, 2013, Order Dismissing Appeal wherein the District Court dismissed Appellant's appeal as untimely. (R. Vol. I, pp. 159-162)

The Notice of Appeal was faxed by the Appellant's attorney to the Court Clerk after the time to file the appeal had expired, which resulted in the appeal being dismissed for its untimeliness. (R. Vol. I, p. 100 and pp. 159-162)

B. Course of Proceedings

On June 14, 2013, a Decree of Divorce was entered for case number CV-2010-4386, signed by the Honorable Scott Wayman (R. Vol. I, p. 78). Appellant's Notice of Appeal was faxed to the Court Clerk on July 26, 2013, at 5:08 p.m. (R. Vol. I, p. 100). The Notice of Appeal was file stamped on July 29, 2013 (R. Vol. I, p. 100). On July 31, 2013, the Appellant filed an Amended Notice of Appeal (R. Vol. I, p. 103).

On September 3, 2013, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss Appellant's appeal as being untimely (Augmented R., Motion to Dismiss). On September 10, 2013, Appellant filed a Response in Opposition to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, and supporting affidavits (R. Vol. I, pp. 109-155). On September 17, 2013, the District Court dismissed Appellant's appeal as untimely (R. Vol. I, pp. 161-162). Appellant now appeals the dismissal of his appeal (R. Vol. I, pp. 163-168).

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

After multiple days of trial, and the Court reviewing all evidence and testimony, the Court, on May 31, 2013, placed its Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law on the record (R. Vol. I, p. 78). Respondent's attorney faxed Appellant's attorney a proposed Decree on June 6, 2013, with a note indicating she would be filing the Decree on Monday June 10, 2013, unless she heard from counsel before then (R. Vol. I, pp. 122-144).

The Decree was subsequently sent to the Court and entered on June 14, 2013 (R. Vol. I, p. 78). Appellant claims the fax number on the Certificate of Service was not correct and he did not receive the signed Decree of Divorce until the Respondent contacted Appellant's attorney on Tuesday, July 23, 2013, and e-mailed counsel a copy of the signed Decree later that day (R. Vol. I, p. 118).

The Court Clerk re-faxed Appellant's counsel a copy of the Decree of Divorce on July 24, 2013 (R. Vol. I, p. 85). During a phone call on Thursday, July 25, 2013, Appellant's counsel told Respondent that he would be filing an appeal on Friday (Augmented R., Affidavit Motion to Dismiss). Appellant was required to file the Notice of Appeal before 5:00 p.m. on Friday, July 26, 2013, for the appeal to be timely. He did not file the Notice of Appeal until Friday, July 26, 2013, at 5:08 p.m. (R. Vol. I, p. 100). The Notice of Appeal was not file stamped by the Court Clerk until July 29, 2013 (R. Vol. I, p. 100).

Appellant's attorney explained his copier had shut down at the time he attempted to fax the Notice of Appeal (R. Vol. I, p. 119). Appellant's attorney also indicated he had a very busy

schedule between July 23, 2013, and July 26, 2013 (R. Vol. I, p. 168). Appellant now claims he did not have sufficient time to file his Notice of Appeal and asserts the District Court erred in dismissing his appeal as untimely (Appellant's Brief p. 11).

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- A. Did the District Court error in dismissing the appeal, when the Notice of Appeal had been file stamped three days after the time to appeal had expired?
- B. Did l.R.C.P. 77(d) toll or extend the time Appellant had to file his appeal, when Appellant had actual knowledge and constructive notice of entry of the Decree of Divorce prior to the expiration of the time to timely file the appeal?
- C. Is either party entitled to attorney fees and costs on appeal?

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review from a district court ruling, acting in its appellate capacity, is for the Appellate Court to review the decision of the District Court to determine whether it committed error with regard to the issue presented on appeal. *Vierstra v. Vierstra*, 153 Idaho 873, 876-877, 292 P.3d 264, 267-268 (2012). Whether the District Court had jurisdiction over an action is a question of law, over which this court exercises free review. *City of Eagle v. Idaho Dep't of Water Res.*, 150 Idaho 449, 450-51, 247 P.3d 1037, 1038-39 (2011).

VI. ARGUMENT

A. <u>Did the District Court error in dismissing the appeal, when the Notice of Appeal had been file stamped three days after the time to appeal had expired?</u>

If an appeal is not timely filed, the Court lacks jurisdiction to hear the appeal. *Bower v. Mabey*, 119 Idaho 922, 811 P.2d 847 (Ct.App. 1991). Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure 83(s) states

that failure to physically file a notice of appeal within the time limits "shall cause automatic dismissal of such appeal upon motion of any party, or upon initiative of the district court." According to I.R.C.P. 5(e), the Clerk is charged with officially accepting and entering, via date stamp, various pleadings when they are filed. Further, I.C.R.P. 5(e) states in reference to fax filings that "filings may be made to the court only during the normal working hours of the clerk and only if there is a facsimile machine in the office of the filing clerk of the court."

In *Cather v. Kelso v. Western Mortgage Loan Corporation*, 103 Idaho 684, 652 P.2d 188 (1982), the Idaho Supreme Court looked at the definition of when something is "filed" and discussed former laws governing county offices requiring they be open from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Later, the legislature provided that county commissioners prescribe days and hours of operation. *Id.* at 688, 192. In *State v. Ciccone*, 150 Idaho 305, 246 P.3d 958 (2010) the Supreme Court reviewed whether an appeal had been timely filed. The Idaho Supreme Court explained:

[T]he placing of the clerk's file stamp on the judgment constitutes the entry of the judgment; and the judgment is not effective before such entry. Thus, in order to be effective, a judgment must be file stamped by the Clerk of the Court. The stamp contains administrative information including the date, hour and minute at which the document is filed, I.R.C.P. 5(d) and (e) and the date evidenced by the filing stamps serves as a reference point from which to calculate the 42-day period for appeal. *Id.* at 307, 960.

In the case at hand, the Appellant did not file a timely appeal. For the appeal to be timely, it was required to be filed by July 26, 2013. The appeal was not filed until July 29, 2013. For this

reason, the District Court did not err in dismissing the appeal because the District Court did not have jurisdiction.

B. Did I.R.C.P. 77(d) toll or extend the time appellant had to file his appeal, when appellant had actual knowledge and constructive notice of entry of the Decree of Divorce prior to the expiration of the time to timely file the appeal?

Because the Appellant had actual knowledge the Decree of Divorce was entered before the time to appeal expired, Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure 77(d) does not allow the time to appeal to be extended or tolled. Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure 77(d) states in part, "Lack of notice of entry of an order or judgment does not affect the time to appeal or to file a post-judgment motion, or relieve or authorize the court to relieve a party for failure to appeal or file a post-trial motion within the time allowed, except where there is no showing of mailing by the clerk of the court records and the party affected thereby had no actual notice."

Herret v. Herret, 105 Idaho 358, 361, 670 P.2d 63, 66 (Ct.App. 1983) gives a clear answer to the question of whether I.R.C.P. 77(d) extends jurisdiction to a district court over an appeal, where the notice of appeal was filed after the time to appeal has expired, by explaining, "[t]he difference lies in when the appellant received actual notice." (emphasis added)

To explain this difference, *Herret* analyzed *Cline v. Roemer* and *Dustin v. Beckstrand*, where time was tolled because appellant received actual notice after the time to file post trial motions had expired. *Cline v. Roemer*, 97 Idaho 666, 551 P.2d 621 (1976); *Dustin v. Beckstrand*, 103 Idaho 780, 654 P.2d 368 (1982). The *Herret* court then looked at *Tanner v. Estate of Cobb*,

where the time was not tolled because appellant received actual notice before the time to file post trial motions had expired. *Tanner v. Estate of Cobb*, 101 Idaho 444, 614 P.2d 984 (1980).

"In *Cline and Dustin*, actual notice was not received until **after** the original time for appeal had expired. Under these circumstances, the time for appeal begins to run a new from the date the appellant receives actual notice." *Herret* at 360, citing *Cline v. Roemer*, supra and *Dustin v. Beckstrand*, supra. (Emphasis added) However, when an appellant has actual notice **before** the time to appeal has expired, as in the case at hand, the time to appeal is not tolled. *Tanner* at 445.

In these cases, it was explained in *Herret*, that *Tanner* would apply. "In Tanner, however, the appellant received actual notice while the original period still had thirteen days to run. The Court concluded that the appellant had sufficient notice to file his appeal before the original period expired and therefore it was not necessary to toll the period, even though the Clerk did not give notice." *Id.* Therefore, the *Herret* court concluded the time would not be tolled when appellant received actual notice ten days before the time to appeal had expired. *Id.*

Moreover, the Idaho Supreme Court has shown a distinction between formal notice from the Court Clerk and actual knowledge of an entry of judgement. "Actual knowledge of a judgment will cause the time to appeal to begin to run even if formal notice pursuant to I.R.C.P. 77(d) has not been given." *Cline v. Roemer*, 97 Idaho 666, 667, 551 P.2d 621, 622 (1976). The Affidavit of Henry Madsen dated September 10, 2013, indicates he became aware of the signed Decree on July 23, 2013 (R. Vol. I, p. 118).

In this case, Appellant had actual notice of the Decree of Divorce three days **before** the time to appeal had expired. Appellant chose to wait until the eleventh hour and after the time to appeal had passed to file his notice. Appellant's attorney makes an issue of having one day to discuss the appeal with his client. Yet, Appellant's attorney wrote in his Affidavit in Support of Defendant's Response in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion that he had discussed the potential appeal and costs multiple times with his client in June, 2013 and later (R. Vol. I, pp. 117-118). Counsel for Appellant had already made an inquiry as to the costs of appeal prior to July 23, 2013 (R. Vol. I, p. 118).

Appellant's focus is on when the Clerk faxed the order. However, this still does not extend his time to file since "The fact that the clerk's office had not given notice as required by I.R.C.P. 77(d) is of no help to appellant if he otherwise had actual notice of the entry of judgment before the original time for appeal expired." *Herret* at 361. Even without taking into account that Appellant had actual knowledge as of July 23, 2013, it is important to note in this case that the Court Clerk faxed the Decree of Divorce to the Appellant before the time to file the appeal had expired.

In addition to the Appellant's actual knowledge derived by both Respondent informing Appellant's attorney and the Clerk faxing the entered decree, the Appellant also had constructive notice the Decree of Divorce was entered before the time to appeal expired. In *Swayne v. Otto*, the Idaho Supreme Court discussed constructive notice as it relates to I.R.C.P. 77(d). *Swayne v. Otto*, 99 Idaho 271, 580 P.2d 1296 (1978).

In *Swayne*, judgment was entered on March 28, 1975. Id at 272. A hearing was held on April 11, 1975, on appellants' motion to disallow costs. *Id.* This same day, Appellant contacted the Court Clerk and received incorrect information from the Court Clerk that the judgment had not been entered, even though the judgment had been entered. *Id.* Several inquiries were made by the Appellant throughout the year and each time, Appellant was informed by the Court Clerk that no judgment had been entered. *Id.* "The holding of the district court was that appellant's had 'constructive notice' that the judgment had been entered, notwithstanding the alleged omissions and errors of the clerk, from the fact that the hearing for costs on April 11, 1975, the judgment was marked 'filed' March 28, 1975, and was in the Court's file at the hearing and available to counsel." *Id.* The Idaho Supreme Court affirmed the District Court's decision and dismissed the appeal in this case.

In the case at hand, the Court made its oral findings of fact and conclusions of law on the record on May 31, 2013 (R. Vol. I, p. 78). On June 5, 2013, Appellant's attorney received a proposed Decree from Respondent's attorney with the statement, "Henry, Attached for your review is a copy of our proposed Decree of Divorce with Exhibits 1 and 2. I will be sending to the Judge on Monday, June 10, 2013 if I do not hear from you before then." (R. Vol. I, p. 122). Like *Swayne*, Appellant had "constructive notice" the judgment had been entered. Therefore, there exists no basis for the time in this case to be tolled or extended under I.R.C.P. 77(d).

C. <u>Is either party entitled to attorney fees and costs on appeal?</u>

Respondent should be entitled to attorney fees and costs because Appellant's appeal is frivolous, unreasonable and without foundation. Appellant argues he should receive attorney fees and costs if he is successful on appeal. In support of this request, Appellant argues counsel for Respondent indicated Appellant had notice to appeal from the date he received their proposed Decree of Divorce (Appellant's Brief p. 10). Contrary to Appellant's Brief, Respondent makes no argument in her memorandum or at hearing that the time to appeal started before entry of the Decree, i.e. the date counsel for Appellant received the proposed Decree (Augmented R., Motion to Dismiss and TR Motion to Dismiss). Respondent simply draws attention to such relevant facts because they do tend to show the Appellant did have notice that the Decree had been entered, once it had been entered.

"In addition to an award of fees pursuant to I.C. §12-121 and I.R.C.P. 54(e)(1) at the trial level, attorney fees may also be awarded on appeal." *Huerta v. Huerta*, 127 Idaho 77, 80, 896 P.2d 985, 988(Ct.App. 1995). During the Motion to Dismiss in this case, the District Court indicated, "Mr. Madsen has admitted he had actual notice within the 42-day period. The Court finds the issue is clear, based upon the applicable rules. It is jurisdictional." (TR. Motion to Dismiss, p. 9, Lns. 22-25).

The focus by Appellant in this case is on a misapplication to settled law clearly analyzed in *Herret* and other relevant cases, with no request or justification to establish new legal standards deviating from existing case law.

Where the appellant fails to present any significant issue on appeal regarding a question of law, where no findings of fact made by the trial court are clearly or arguably unsupported by substantial evidence, where we are not asked to establish any new legal standards or modify existing ones, and where the focus of the case is on the application of settled law to the facts, the appeal is deemed to be without foundation. Under those circumstances, attorney fees should be awarded to the respondent. *Troche v. Gier*, 118 Idaho 740, 742, 800 P.2d 136, 138 (Ct. App. 1990).

In this case, Appellant has failed to present a significant issue on appeal while forcing Respondent to incur unnecessary and burdensome fees and costs in defense of this appeal.

Respondent requests attorney fees and costs, pursuant to I.C. §12-121, I.R.C.P. 54(e)(1), I.A.R.'s 40 and 41.

VII. CONCLUSION

The District Court did not error in dismissing Appellant's appeal as untimely.

Appellant's counsel had access to the court file and notice from Respondent that the proposed Decree of Divorce was going to be filed with the Court. Moreover, Appellant had several days before the time to appeal had expired to file the Notice of Appeal in this case. At the time Appellant's attorney had actual knowledge the Decree of Divorce had been entered, Appellant had all the rights he would have had if he learned of the Decree on June 14, 2013. He instead chose not to react until after the time to appeal had passed.

.

Respondent requests reimbursement of the costs and fees she has been required to pay to defend this appeal and requests this Court find that the District Court did not error in dismissing Appellant's appeal as untimely.